Case No. 74416

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC, A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Dec 03 2018 08:37 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

vs.

MARCHAI B.T., A BANK TRUST,

Respondent.

APPEAL

From the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County
The Honorable LINDA MARIE BELL
District Court Case No. A-13-689461-C, Consolidated With A-16-742327-C

AMENDED APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

JACQUELINE A. GILBERT, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 10593 E-mail: jackie@kgelegal.com DIANA S. EBRON, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 10580 E-mail: diana@kgelegal.com

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction under NRAP 3A(b)(1). The District Court entered judgment in favor of Marchai BT ("Marchai") on all claims between Marchai and Wyeth Ranch Homeowners Association, and Marchai and SFR on October 3, 2017, and the notice of entry of that Order was entered on October 4, 2017. (7JA_1483, 7JA_1489.) SFR obtained default judgments against Cristela Perez and U.S. Bank on April 26, 2018, notice of entry of which was served on April 27, 2016. (7JA_1581, JA_1585). Marchai obtained default judgments against Cristela Perez and U.S. Bank on August 6, 2018, notice of entry of which was served on August 7, 2018. (7JA_1592, JA_1597). SFR filed its notice of appeal on November 3, 2011. (7JA_1556). SFR filed an amended notice of appeal including the default judgment obtained by Marchai against Cristela Perez and US Bank on August 8, 2018. (7JA_1604).

APPELLANT'S ROUTING STATEMENT

The Supreme Court should retain this matter. This case is a quiet title action that does not fall under any category presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals pursuant to NRAP 17(d).

Pursuant to NRAP 28(a)(5), SFR states that this case contains "matters raising as a principal issue a question of first impression involving the United States or Nevada Constitutions or common law[.]" Pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(10) this case also

involves "matters raising as a principal issue a question of statewide public importance." NRAP 17(a)(11). Specifically, this appeal addresses whether payments made to a homeowner's association by a homeowner may apply to the superpriority portion of the association's lien as a windfall to the bank holding a senior deed of trust who has taken no steps to protect the deed of trust.

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1) Whether the lower court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Marchai and against SFR *sua sponte*, and then later altering or clarifying its order of summary judgment against SFR in a second *sua sponte* order.
- 2) Whether the lower court erred in determining that a 2008 notice of delinquent assessment lien was the lien foreclosed upon when the Association recorded a subsequent notice of delinquent assessment lien in 2011.
- 3) Whether the lower court erred in determining that payments made by a homeowner obviated Marchai's statutory obligation to pay off the superpriority portion of the Association's lien to protect its deed of trust from extinguishment.
- 4) Whether the district court erred in determining that SFR could not demonstrate it was a bona fide purchaser.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal follows the lower court's *sua sponte* grant of summary judgment in favor of Marchai and against SFR. (JA_1483). Significantly, SFR was given no notice of the Court's intent to consider summary judgment in favor of Marchai, nor any notice of the Court's intent to amend its judgment against SFR *sua sponte* while entering a default judgment against a non-appearing party. The judgment should be reversed on this basis alone.

Even ignoring the procedural defects of the lower court's judgment against SFR, the judgment contains a number of substantive errors that require reversal. This case follows SFR's acquisition of the real property located at 7119 Wolf Rivers Avenue, Las Vegas, Nevada 89113 at the Wyeth Ranch Community Association's (the "Association") properly-conducted foreclosure of its delinquent assessment lien. It is undisputed that Marchai failed to take action to protect its deed of trust from extinguishment prior to the Association's sale. Notwithstanding this failure, Marchai brought suit against SFR, claiming its deed of trust somehow survived the foreclosure sale. After combing through the Association's and its agent's files and finding no other basis to reverse the foreclosure sale, Marchai sought to rely on payments made by the former homeowner, Cristela Perez to rescue Marchai from the consequences of their inaction. There is absolutely no evidence that Perez

intended these payments to satisfy Marchai's obligation to pay off the superpriority lien amount prior to the sale. Similarly, no evidence indicated the payments were actually applied by the Association to absolve Marchai of its responsibilities under the law. Marchai should not be permitted to rely on Perez's payments to excuse their failure to act. Such a result would be detrimental to Perez.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

A. The Association Forclosure Sale

Perez obtained a loan from CMG Mortgage Inc. in October 2005, which was secured by a deed of trust recorded on November 9, 2005. (1JA_0004.) The deed of trust stated that the beneficiary could create an escrow account for the payment of assessments, or pay assessments on behalf of Perez, should she fail to make the required payments herself. (1JA_0027, ¶3; 1JA_0030, ¶9.)

Perez did fall behind on her assessment obligations, and on December 20, 2011, the Association, through its authorized collection agent, Alessi & Koenig ("Alessi"), recorded a Notice of Delinquent Assessment Lien ("NODA"). (5JA_1210.) In accordance with NRS 116.31162, Alessi mailed the NODA to Perez. (5JA_1211-1214.)

More than 30 days later, on February 28, 2012, Alessi recorded a Notice of Default ("NOD") on behalf of the Association. (6JA_1216.) The NOD was served

on all parties required by law. (6JA_1217-1220.) Marchai does not dispute that the NOD was provided to its predecessors in interest, and that it had constructive notice of the NOD. (6JA_1223, 1224, Response #3, #4.)

With the default remaining unresolved, the Association, through Alessi recorded a Notice of Sale. (6JA_1242.) The notice of sale indicated that the property was to be sold at auction on August 28, 2013. (*Id.*) The notice of sale was provided to all parties required by law, posted on the Property, posted at three public places, and published in Nevada Legal News for three consecutive weeks. (6JA_1243-1251.)

Following the recording of the Notice of Sale, On August 12, 2013, an assignment of the Deed of Trust was recorded, transferring the beneficial interest in the Deed of Trust to Marchai. (6JA_1253.) The assignment indicated the deed of trust had been assigned 5 months prior, but Marchai elected not to record until August 12, 2013. (*Id.*) Had Marchai recorded its interest promptly, it would have been entitled to receive service of the Notice of Sale. Nonetheless, Marchai obtained its interest in the deed of trust with record knowledge of the Association's foreclosure sale. (*Id.*)

B. Marchai's (In)action

The day before the sale, Marchai contacted Alessi and requested that Alessi not go forward with the foreclosure sale. (6JA_1376.) However, nothing required

the Association to agree to the postponement, and the Association's board elected to go forward with the foreclosure. (6JA_1377.) Marchai took no action to wire payoff funds to Alessi, to obtain an Order restraining the sale, or arrange to have a representative attend the sale. Thus, as scheduled, on August 28, 2013, the Association held a public auction of the Property based on its recorded lien for unpaid monthly assessments. (6JA_1256.) At the foreclosure sale, SFR made the highest cash bid of multiple bidders, purchasing the property for \$21,000.00. (*Id.*) At the time of the foreclosure sale, there was no release of the superpriority lien recorded, there was no *lis pendens* recorded on the property, and SFR had no knowledge of Marchai's contact with Alessi the preceding day. (6JA_1264-1265.) At the time of the sale, Marchai had both actual and record knowledge that the foreclosure was set to occur. (5JA_1242; 6JA_1376.)

Following the sale, a Trustee's Deed was recorded in favor of SFR, vesting title to the property in SFR "without equity or right of redemption." (6JA_1256.)

The trustees deed recited:

Default occurred as set forth in a Notice of Default and Election to Sell, which was recorded on in the office of the recorder of said county. All requirements of law regarding the mailing of copies of notices and the posting and publication of the copies of the Notice of Sale have been complied with.

(*Id.*) SFR had no reason to doubt the veracity of any recital contained in the Trustee's deed. (6JA_1264-1265.)

II. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

A. The Complaint and Counterclaim

On September 30, 2013, Marchai filed a judicial foreclosure complaint, seeking to foreclose on its presumptively extinguished deed of trust. (1JA_0002.) SFR answered and counterclaimed for declaratory relief, seeking an Order of the Court establishing that SFR took title to the property free and clear of Marchai's deed of trust. (1JA 0078.) It was not until August 25, 2016, almost three years after the date of the Association's foreclosure, that Marchai filed a separate complaint – case no. A-16-742327 – alleging that its Deed of Trust had not been extinguished. (5JA_1099.) In that complaint, Marchai raised six causes of action for: 1) declaratory relief under the Takings Clause; 2) declaratory relief under the Due Process clauses of the Nevada and United States constitutions; 3) wrongful foreclosure; 4) violation of NRS 116.1113; 5) intentional interference with a contract; and, 6) quiet title. (5JA_1099-1113.) The cases were consolidated on December 13, 2016. (5JA_1140.)

B. Initial Motions for Summary Judgment Denied by District Court

On January 14, 2016, both SFR and Marchai filed competing motions for summary judgment. (1JA_0110, 0192.) Marchai's motion argued, *inter alia*, that the post-notice of lien payments of Perez extinguished the superpriority portion of the lien. (1JA_0149-0151.) On February 25, 2016, the motions came on for hearing

before the lower court, which issued its written decision denying both motions on March 22, 2016. (5JA_1017.) The Order concluded that "further factual development is needed to determine whether Perez's payments to the HOA constituted a valid tender." (5JA_1038.) On September 30, 2016, the district court stayed the case, and lifted the stay on December 13, 2016. (See 5JA_1140.)

C. SFR's Second Motion for Summary Judgment Following Stay

Later, in July 2017, both SFR and the Association filed motions for summary judgment against Marchai. (5JA_1164; 6JA-1277.) Though Marchai filed an opposition, relying on the evidence contained in its unsuccessful 2016 motion for summary judgment, Marchai did not file a motion or countermotion for summary judgment. (6JA_1365.) In its opposition, Marchai notes that Perez's payments following the 2011 notice of lien totaled only \$1060.00 – significantly less than the \$1,345.50 that was entitled to superpriority under that lien. (6JA_1373, 1375 (stating payments of \$300, \$295, \$165, and \$300 were made following the December 2011 NODA).)

On October 3, 2017, the lower court issued an order on SFR and the Association's motions for summary judgment, denying both motions and *sua sponte* entering summary judgment in favor of Marchai, ostensibly on all claims. (7JA_1483-1497.) The lower court found that (1) a 2008 Notice of Delinquent

Assessment Lien recorded by the Association was the operative foreclosing lien, because the Association did not record a rescission of it when it recorded its 2011 lien – despite there being no legal requirement to do so, and (2) since Perez mad made payments in excess of 9 months' worth of assessments following the 2008 lien, the superpriority lien was discharged. (*Id.*) The lower court applied the wrong evidentiary standard in holding that "[u]pon the close of discovery, SFR and the HOA have not presented any evidence that shows Perez did not pay off the superpriority liens." (7JA_1496.) The court then reached an untenable legal solution, holding that "any payment which is at least equal to the amount incurred in the nine months preceding the notice of delinquent assessment lien is sufficient to satisfy the superpriority lien." (*Id.*) These substantive errors provide separate bases upon which this Court should reverse the judgment of the lower court.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The grant of summary judgment in favor of Marchai should be reversed because the district court sua sponte granted the judgment without any motion pending and with Marchai claiming genuine issues of material fact remained. While, as set forth below, SFR disagrees such facts are material because of the errors in law which make them immaterial, Machai's admission alone made it inappropriate for the district court to grant summary judgment in favor of Marchai. In fact, the district

court had already determined such questions remained as to Marchai's evidence and Marchai provided no additional evidence in opposition to SFR's second motion for summary judgment. Such sua sponte entry of summary judgment in favor of a non-moving party is disfavored without the proper evidence being taken and without giving notice that the other party need defend itself. Thus, the district court erred in granting summary judgment to Marchai in the first instance, and again when amending the judgment at the time of granting Marchai's judicial foreclosure against the former owner.

Additionally, the district court erred as a matter of law in concluding that a homeowner's partial payment can satisfy the superpriority portion of an association lien. Giving the lender or beneficiary of the deed of trust such a windfall has never been contemplated, either by the UCIOA, the Nevada Legislature, and certainly runs afoul of public policy. And any such conclusion would be erroneous where the facts show that the amount of the partial payment did not satisfy even 9 months of assessments.

Finally, the district court erred in dismissing out of hand SFR's claim of bona fide purchaser, when, as here, Marchai failed to pay the superpriority amount and seeks to rely on actions taken by another to protect the deed of trust. Such a claim must be considered in equity. And as this Court has noted, equity requires

the party seeking such relief to come with clean hand. Marchai cannot meet that standard.

For these reasons, this Court should reverse the grant of summary judgment in favor of Marchai and remand with instruction to enter judgment in favor of SFR.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Questions of law are reviewed *de novo* by this Court. *Century Steel, Inc. v. State, Div. of Indus. Relations, Occupational Safety & Health Section*, 122 Nev. 584, 588, 137 P.3d 1155, 1158 (2006).

This [C]ourt reviews a district court's grant of summary judgment de novo." Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005). A motion for summary judgment should be granted "when the pleadings and other evidence on file demonstrate that no 'genuine issue as to any material fact [remains] and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Id.; NRCP 56(c). All evidence and inferences must be viewed in a light most favorable to the non-moving party on a summary judgment motion. Safeway, 121 Nev. at 729, 121 P.3d at 1029

II. THE DISTRICT COURT'S ERRED BY GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF MARCHAI SUA SPONTE

The lower court erred in impermissibly granting summary judgment in favor of Marchai on all claims when (1) Marchai had not filed a motion for summary

judgment and (2) Marchai produced no new evidence beyond that which was included in its 2016 motion for summary judgment that was denied. This Court has held that "[a]lthough district courts have the inherent power to enter summary judgment sua sponte pursuant to [NRCP] 56, that power is contingent upon giving the losing party notice that it must defend its claim." Soebbing v. Carpet Barn, Inc., 109 Nev. 78, 83, 847 P.2d 731, 735 (1993). This Court further noted that it is "troubling" when a district court grants summary judgment sua sponte without having taken evidence in the form of affidavits or other documents. Sierra Nev. Stagelines, Inc. v. Rossi, 111 Nev. 360, 364, 892 P.2d 592, 594–95 (1995). Further, this Court directed that "A district court must not elevate "promptness and efficiency" over fairness and due process by entering summary judgment before claims are properly before it for decision." Renown Reg'l. Med. v. Second Jud. Dist. Ct., 130 Nev. 824, 828, 335 P.3d 199, 202 (2014). In Renown this Court reiterated "that the defending party must be given notice and an opportunity to defend itself before a court may grant summary judgment sua sponte." *Id.* In *Renown*, the Court reversed a sua sponte issuance of summary judgment on contract claims that were not included in the prevailing party's motion for summary judgment. *Id.*

Here, there was not even a motion for summary judgment by Marchai, or notice of any type that would allow SFR to know that it was required to defend against a non-existent motion for summary judgment. Indeed, a nonmoving party's

requirement to produce evidence of a genuine issue of material fact is only triggered once a motion for summary judgment is filed that is supported as required by NRCP 56; *Pegasus v. Reno Newspapers, Inc.*, 118 Nev. 706, 713–14, 57 P.3d 82, 87 (2002). Since Marchai never submitted a motion at all, let alone one supported as required by NRCP 56, SFR was not required to do anything to avoid the entry of summary judgment in Marchai's favor. In order for Marchai to obtain summary judgment on all claims, it bore the initial burden of proving its entitlement to summary judgment before the burden shifted to the SFR to respond. *See Cuzze v. Univ. and Comm. Coll. Sys. of Nev.*, 123 Nev. 598, 602–03, 172 P.3d 131, 134 (2007) (moving party must make initial showing of both an absence of genuinely disputed material facts as well as entitlement to judgment as a matter of law before burden shifts to opposing party).

It is also incomprehensible that Marchai was granted summary judgment on all claims, including its claim of judicial foreclosure, when it produced no evidence - either by motion for summary judgment, or in its opposition - that would allow the court to grant a judicial foreclosure against SFR. In order to judicially foreclose, in the State of Nevada, a beneficiary of a deed of trust must prove, through admissible evidence the following: (1) that the foreclosing party is the present beneficiary of a valid deed of trust; (2) that the foreclosing party is the holder in possession of the note, with the right to collect the funds due to it under the terms of the note; (3) that the borrower is presently in default; and (4) the amount presently owed. See NRS

40.430 and *Edelstein v. Bank of New York Mellon*, 128 Nev. 505, 512, 286 P.3d 249, 254 (2012)(stating "The deed and note must be held together because the holder of the note is only entitled to repayment, and does not have the right under the deed to use the property as a means of satisfying repayment"). Marchai never submitted affirmative evidence that it was the beneficiary of the deed of trust and holder of the note, entitled to enforce the note in a motion against SFR. Nor did Marchai submit any evidence against SFR of Perez's default or a calculation demonstrating the amount Perez owed. That evidence was not submitted until after SFR had filed its notice of appeal, in a motion for default judgment filed by Marchai against Perez and U.S. Bank. (7JA_1593.) Despite the fact that SFR was not a party to the default judgment motion, in ruling on the motion, the lower court sua sponte amended or clarified its earlier entry of judgment against SFR, to state that it was granting an order of judicial foreclosure against SFR as well. (7JA_1594.) This caused SFR to amend its notice of appeal to include the default judgment of judicial foreclosure in its appeal. (7JA_1605.) SFR was not provided with notice that a motion for default judgment against other parties could result in an amended or clarified judgment of judicial foreclosure against SFR. Because the lower court entered judgment against SFR sua sponte without affording SFR notice, and then later amended or clarified that judgment sua sponte, again without notice to SFR, the judgment of the lower court requires reversal.

III. THE 2011 NODA WAS THE OPERATIVE LIEN

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