IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company,

Appellant,

vs.

MARCHAI, B.T., a Nevada business trust,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Supreme Court Casen 30 2019 04:09 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown District Court CaseNeok: of Sepreme Court 689461-C, Consolidated with A-16-742327-C

APPEAL From the Eighth Judicial District Court The Honorable Linda Marie Bell

Respondent's Answering Brief

David J. Merrill Nevada Bar No. 6060 David J. Merrill, P.C. 10161 Park Run Drive, Suite 150 Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 (702) 566-1935 david@djmerrillpc.com Attorney for Respondent Marchai, B.T.

NRAP 26.1 Disclosure Statement

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

when Wyeth Ranch foreclosed in August 2013, it foreclosed upon a subpriority lien. Hence, SFR acquired its interest in the property subject to Marchai's deed of trust.

SFR argues that the district court did not properly grant summary judgment for Marchai because Marchai did not have a summary judgment motion pending. But the district court could reconsider its prior decision on SFR and Marchai's competing motions for summary judgment. Also, because SFR moved for summary judgment and had a full and fair opportunity to present argument and evidence to support its positions, the district court properly granted summary judgment for Marchai when it concluded that SFR could not prevail. And SFR waived any challenge to the judgment granting Marchai's judicial foreclosure claim because it did not oppose Marchai's motion for entry of final judgment.

SFR also claims that when Wyeth Ranch served a notice of lien in 2011, it granted Wyeth Ranch a new superpriority portion of the lien. But because Wyeth Ranch did not rescind its prior notices nor did it solely seek assessments that accrued after Perez satisfied the

superpriority portion of the lien, this Court has concluded that the 2011 notice could not grant Wyeth Ranch a new superpriority lien.

Although this Court has decided that a homeowner can pay the superpriority portion of an association's lien, SFR contests this Court's conclusion. SFR's arguments fail.

The language of NRS 116 as it existed during the foreclosure, and as amended by the legislature, both recognize that the "unit's owner," can pay the lien. SFR claims otherwise but relies upon language about what the notice of default must say, not who may pay the lien. And allowing a homeowner to pay the association's lien is supported by the purpose of the statute. The association receives at least the minimum amount to which it is entitled, and the holder of the first deed of trust is protected. Also, a homeowner wants to pay the superpriority portion of the lien for its protection. If the association's foreclosure extinguishes the first deed of trust, the homeowner is liable to the beneficiary for the full outstanding balance. If not, the homeowner is liable for (at most) the deficiency following the foreclosure of the first deed of trust. Also, bidders at a foreclosure sale can determine whether the association is foreclosing upon a subpriority lien or a lien containing superpriority

and subpriority amounts by asking the association. The association need not disclose payments, amounts of payments, or who paid and, thus, will not run afoul of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act. In sum, no justification exists for this Court to conclude that a homeowner cannot pay the superpriority portion of an association's lien.

SFR also asserts that the record does not support a finding that Wyeth Ranch applied Perez's payments to the superpriority portion of the lien. Again, that is not true. Wyeth Ranch applied the payments to the account in general. Under the common law, those payments are thus applied to the oldest amounts, which includes the superpriority portion of the lien.

Finally, SFR argues that the district court erred when it concluded that SFR was not a bona fide purchaser. But that is irrelevant. Because Wyeth Ranch foreclosed upon a subpriority deed of trust, even if SFR is a bona fide purchaser, it took subject to Marchai's deed of trust. The bona fide purchaser doctrine cannot revive a satisfied superpriority lien.

Hence, Marchai requests this Court affirm the judgment of the district court.

Argument

I. The district court properly denied SFR's motion for summary judgment and granted summary judgment for Marchai because Perez's payments after Wyeth Ranch instituted an action to enforce the lien satisfied the superpriority portion of the lien, which consisted of (at most) the nine months of association dues incurred immediately preceding the notice of lien Wyeth Ranch served in September 2008.

In SFR Investments Pool 1 v. U.S. Bank, N.A., this Court

concluded that the superpriority portion of an association's lien consists "of the *last nine months* of unpaid HOA dues." 130 Nev. 742, 745, 334 P.3d 408, 411 (2014) (emphasis added). This Court didn't say that the superpriority portion of the lien consisted of *any* nine months of HOA dues but specified that it is the "*last* nine months." *Id.* (emphasis added).

But the Court's opinion left unresolved the question of the last nine months from when? NRS 116 and *Saticoy Bay LLC Series 2021 Gray Eagle Way v. JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A.* answered the question. NRS 116 limits the superpriority portion of an association's lien to the "9 months immediately preceding institution of an action to enforce the lien." NRS § 116.3116(2). An association institutes an action to enforce the lien through the service of a notice of delinquent assessment. See Saticoy Bay LLC Series 2021 Gray Eagle Way v. JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., 133 Nev. Adv Op. 3, 388 P.3d 226, 231 (2017). The superpriority portion of the lien does not include collection fees, late fees, interest, or foreclosure costs. *Horizons at Seven Hills Homeowners* Ass'n v. Ikon Holdings, LLC, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 35, 373 P.3d 66, 70 (2016). Thus, the superpriority portion of an association's lien includes no more than the delinquent association dues for the nine months before the association serves the notice of delinquent assessment. See NRS § 116.3116(2); Saticoy Bay LLC Series 2021 Gray Eagle Way, 133 Nev. Adv. Op. 3, 388 P.3d at 231; Horizons at Seven Hills Homeowners Ass'n, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 35, 373 P.3d at 70.

Here, Wyeth served the notice of delinquent assessment on September 30, 2008. Perez had only two quarterly charges for association dues immediately preceding September 30, 2008: April 1 and July 1. Therefore, the past due quarterly assessments from July 1 and April 1 are the only ones entitled to superpriority treatment. *See* NRS § 116.3116(2); *Saticoy Bay LLC Series 2021 Gray Eagle Way*, 133 Nev. Adv. Op. 3, 388 P.3d at 231; *Horizons at Seven Hills Homeowners Ass'n*, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 35, 373 P.3d at 70. Those charges totaled \$840; \$420 per quarter. But after Wyeth instituted an action to enforce its lien, Perez paid Wyeth \$3,230. Hence if, as the district court concluded, the \$3,230 is applied to the superpriority portion of the lien, Perez satisfied the lien and SFR took subject to Marchai's deed of trust.

NRS 116 contains no statutory section directing the application of pre-foreclosure payments. See NRS §§ 116.001 et seq. But when NRS 116 is silent, the statute explicitly directs the use of the common law. See NRS § 116.1108. "The principles of law and equity . . . supplement the provisions of this chapter, except to the extent inconsistent with this chapter." Id. It is well-established that when a person has "a running account with various items of charges and credits occurring at different times and no direction of payment has been made by the debtor, payments on the account as a whole are applied by law to the oldest unpaid portion of the account." In re Kilgore Meadowbrook Country Club, Inc., 315 B.R. 412, 424–25 (Bankr. E.D. Tex. 2004) (citation omitted); see also L & B 57th St., Inc. v. E.M. Blanchard, Inc., 143 F.3d 88, 91 (2d Cir. 1998) ("As a general rule, payment is applied to debts in the order in which they accrue."); In re Big Sky Farms, Inc., 512 B.R. 212, 222 (Bankr. N.D. Iowa 2014) ("In the absence of an agreement, and

when the parties have an open account—as opposed to distinct individual debts, such as notes—the default rule is that payments are applied to the oldest items.")

Here, Perez had a running account with Wyeth Ranch with various charges and credits that occurred at different times. After Wyeth Ranch instituted an action to enforce the lien in 2008, Perez paid Wyeth Ranch \$3,230. As SFR concedes, Wyeth Ranch applied the payments "as a reduction of the total amount owed by Perez." (AOB at 28.) SFR agrees that Wyeth Ranch applied the payments "to reduce the debt in general." (AOB at 28.) Because SFR has not demonstrated that Wyeth Ranch or Perez directed payment to a specific charge, as a matter of law Wyeth Ranch applied the payments to the oldest amounts. *See In re Kilgore Meadowbrook Country Club*, 315 B.R. at 424–25; *see also L & B 57th St.*, 143 F.3d at 91; *In re Big Sky Farms, Inc.*, 512 B.R. at 222.

According to the 2008 notice of lien, Perez owed Wyeth Ranch \$1,425.17, which included collection costs, attorney's fees, late fees, service charges, and interest. Hence, the *oldest amounts* of the debt *totaled* \$1,425.17, which included the superpriority portion of \$840, plus

the remaining subpriority portion. But after Wyeth Ranch instituted an action to enforce the lien, Perez paid Wyeth Ranch \$3,230, which more than satisfied all amounts due at the time of the 2008 notice of lien. That includes the superpriority amount as that amount is (at most) the nine-months of association dues incurred immediately preceding the institution of an action to enforce the lien. See NRS § 116.3116(2); Saticoy Bay LLC Series 2021 Gray Eagle Way, 133 Nev. Adv. Op. 3, 388 P.3d at 231; Horizons at Seven Hills Homeowners Ass'n, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 35, 373 P.3d at 70. Thus, Wyeth Ranch's foreclosure as a subpriority lien could not extinguish Marchai's deed of trust. See Shadow Wood Homeowners Ass'n v. N.Y. Cmty. Bancorp, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 5, 366 P.3d 1105, 1116 (2016). Hence this Court should affirm the decision of the district court.

A. The district court did not err by granting summary judgment for Marchai, even though Marchai did not have a summary judgment motion pending.

SFR first assigns error to the district court by claiming that the district court improperly granted summary judgment for Marchai, even though Marchai had no summary judgment motion pending. (AOB at 9– 12.) SFR is wrong. Before it enters a final judgment, district courts are "free to reconsider" interlocutory orders. *See Rust v. Clark County Sch. Dist.*, 103 Nev. 686, 688, 747 P.2d 1380, 1382 (1987); *Trail v. Faretto*, 91 Nev. 401, 403, 536 P.2d 1026, 1027 (1975). Here, the district court did nothing more than reconsider its 2016 decision on the competing motions for summary judgment and concluded that Marchai should prevail, which the district court had the right to do. *See Rust*, 103 Nev. at 688, 747 P.2d at 1382; *Trail*, 91 Nev. at 403, 536 P.2d at 1027.

SFR argues that the district court did not reconsider the prior fully-briefed competing motions for summary judgment but entered summary judgment *sua sponte*. Even if true, the district court did not err.

When a party moves for summary judgment and the non-movant does not file a counter-motion, a court can grant summary judgment for a non-movant if the court agrees with the non-movant and the movant "had a full and fair opportunity to ventilate the issues involved in the motion." *Cool Fuel, Inc. v. Connet,* 685 F.2d 309, 311–312 (9th Cir. 1982); accord Exber, Inc. v. Sletten Constr. Co., 92 Nev. 721, 733, 558 P.2d 517, 524 (1976) (citing Wright & Miller, Federal Practice and

Procedure § 2719 (1973)). For example, in Menalco, FZE v. Buchan, the plaintiff moved for summary judgment on its unfair competition claim. No. 2:07-CV-01178-PMP-(PAL), 2010 WL 428911, at *26 (D. Nev. Feb. 1, 2010). The defendants opposed the motion, arguing that Nevada's Uniform Trade Secrets Act preempted the claim. *Id.* But the defendants did not move for summary judgment regarding this claim. *See id.* The court concluded that the NUTSA preempted the claim. *See id.* Hence, the court denied the plaintiff's motion and granted summary judgment *sua sponte* for the defendants because the plaintiffs "had reasonable notice that the sufficiency of their claim was at issue." *Id.*

Here, SFR and Marchai submitted competing motions for summary judgment in 2016. And in 2017, Marchai again opposed SFR's second motion for summary judgment. As it did in 2016, in 2017 Marchai argued that Perez's payments satisfied the superpriority portion of Wyeth Ranch's lien. And the district court granted summary judgment for Marchai on this ground. SFR had a "full and fair" opportunity to argue the issues to the district court and suffered no prejudice from the district court's decision. *See id.* at *26; *see also Cool*

Fuel, 685 F.2d at 311–12; *Exber*, 92 Nev. at 733, 558 P.2d at 524. Hence, the district court did not err.

The cases on which SFR relies do not compel a contrary result. In Soebbing v. Carpet Barn, Inc., the district court granted summary judgment against a plaintiff on claims contained in an amended complaint that the plaintiff had not yet filed. This Court reversed the district court's grant of summary judgment. 109 Nev. 78, 80, 847 P.2d 731, 733 (1993). Because the plaintiff had no opportunity to argue the merits or submit evidence to support the claims in a not-yet-filed complaint, this Court concluded that the district court erred. Id. at 83-84, 847 P.2d at 735–36. In Sierra Nevada Stagelines, Inc. v. Rossi, this Court reversed a district court decision that essentially granted summary judgment *sua sponte* for a defendant even though no party had moved for summary judgment. 111 Nev. 360, 892 P.2d 592 (1995). Instead, the district court announced a decision on the first scheduled day of the trial, taking no evidence or hearing argument. Id. at 362, 892 P.2d at 593–94. Again, this Court reversed because the plaintiff had no opportunity to submit evidence or argument to support its position. Id. at 364, 892 P.2d at 594–95. In Renown Regional Medical Center v.

Second Judicial District Court, this Court issued a writ of mandamus that prohibited the district court from entering summary judgment on two claims not argued. 130 Nev. 824, 335 P.3d 199 (2014). Again, this Court reasoned that not granting a party the opportunity to submit evidence or argument to support its position was unfair. *Id.* at 828, 335 P.3d at 202. But here, SFR had a full and fair opportunity to submit evidence and argument not only in the 2016 summary judgment briefing but again in 2017. Hence, the cases on which SFR relies are inapposite.

SFR also argues that even if the district court had the authority to enter summary judgment *sua sponte*, it did not have authority to grant summary judgment in favor of Marchai on its judicial foreclosure claim because Marchai did not submit evidence or brief that issue. (AOB at 11–12.) But that is not true. In the 2016 motion for summary judgment, Marchai submitted evidence and argument to support its judicial foreclosure claim. Hence, the district court properly reconsidered its prior ruling and granted Marchai's judicial foreclosure claim. *See Rust v. Clark County Sch. Dist.*, 103 Nev. 686, 688, 747 P.2d 1380, 1382 (1987).
But even if the district court did not properly reconsider its prior ruling, the district court's decision is harmless error that SFR waived by failing to object. "Failure to comply with the formal requirements of Rule 56 is subject to the harmless-error rule." *Exber, Inc. v. Sletten Constr. Co.*, 92 Nev. 721, 733, 558 P.2d 517, 524 (1976). "To

demonstrate that an error is not harmless, a party 'must show that the error affects the party's substantial rights so that, but for the alleged error, a different result might reasonably have been reached." *Khoury v. Seastrand*, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 52, 377 P.3d 81, 94 (2016) (quoting *Wyeth v. Rowatt*, 126 Nev. 446, 465, 244 P.3d 765, 778 (2010)). Given the district court's determination that Marchai should prevail, SFR has presented no argument that granting Marchai's claim for judicial foreclosure is anything other than harmless error.

But even if the error was not harmless, SFR waived its argument by failing to object. Marchai applied for Default Judgment *and Entry of Final Judgment* on Order Shortening Time, to which it attached the proposed final judgment that granted Marchai's judicial foreclosure claim. SFR has provided this Court with no brief or transcript in which SFR opposed this motion or objected to the proposed judgment. As the

appellant, SFR bears the burden "to include necessary documentation in the record." *Cuzze v. Univ. & Cmty. Coll. Sys. of Nevada*, 123 Nev. 598, 603, 172 P.3d 131, 135 (2007). Because SFR failed to do so, this Court must "presume that the missing portion supports the district court's decision." *Id.*

B. The superpriority portion of the lien consisted of (at most) the nine months of association dues immediately preceding the first notice of lien, not the second, because Wyeth Ranch failed to rescind the prior notice of lien and notice of default and sought dues and expenses that accrued before Wyeth Ranch should have rescinded the first lien.

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